STATE OF FLORI DA
Dl VI SI ON OF ADM NI STRATI VE HEARI NGS
BENJAM N TORRES,
Petitioner,
VS. Case No. 05-0506

MANPOWER, | NC. ,

Respondent .

N N N N N N N N N N

RECOMVENDED ORDER

A formal hearing was conducted in this case on April 7,
2005, in Pensacola, Florida, before Suzanne F. Hood,
Adm ni strative Law Judge with the Division of Adm nistrative
Hear i ngs.

APPEARANCES

For Petitioner: Debra Dawn Cooper, Esquire
309 West Gregory Street
Pensacol a, Florida 32502

For Respondent: Jane M Rolling, Esquire
5301 North Ironwood Road
Post O fice Box 2053
M | waukee, Wsconsin 53217

STATEMENT OF THE | SSUE

The issue is whether Respondent conmtted an unl awf ul
enpl oyment practice contrary to Section 760.10, Florida
Statutes, by discrimnating against Petitioner based on his

gender.



PRELI M NARY STATEMENT

On Decenber 15, 2003, Petitioner Benjam n Torres
(Petitioner) filed an Anended Charge of Discrimnation against
Respondent Manpower, Inc. (Respondent). The anmended charge
al | eged that Respondent had discrim nated agai nst hi m by
term nating his enploynent based on his gender. On January 4,
2005, the Florida Conm ssion on Human Rel ations (FCHR) issued a
Determ nation: No Cause.

On February 8, 2005, Petitioner filed a Petition for
Rel i ef, requesting an adm nistrative hearing. On February 10,
2005, FCHR referred the case to the D vision of Adm nistrative
Hear i ngs.

A Notice of Hearing dated February 25, 2005, schedul ed the
hearing for April 7, 2005.

On March 11, 2005, Respondent's staff attorney, who is
licensed to practice law in Wsconsin, requested a determ nation
that she was qualified to represent the interests of Respondent
at the hearing. An Order dated March 14, 2005, granted the
request.

During the hearing, Petitioner testified on his own behalf.
Petitioner presented no exhibits for adm ssion into evidence.

Respondent presented the testinony of four w tnesses.

Respondent offered six exhibits that were admtted as evi dence.



The Transcript of the proceeding was filed on May 5, 2005.
Subsequently, the parties filed Proposed Recomended O ders.

Al'l citations hereinafter shall be to Florida Statutes
(2003) unl ess otherw se specified.

FI NDI NGS OF FACT

1. Respondent is a staffing conmpany that provides
tenporary enpl oyees to a variety of custoners/enpl oyers.
Respondent perfornms workforce managenent for its custoners,

i ncluding hiring personnel, providing new enpl oyee orientation,
and conducting ongoing training after the initial hire.

2. Respondent provides its enployees with harassnent-free
wor kpl ace training as part of the initial orientation.
Thereafter, Respondent provides the harassnent-free workpl ace
training on an annual basis and nore frequently at the request
of its custoners.

3. Petitioner is a white male who worked as a tenporary
enpl oyee for Respondent on two occasions: from May 17, 1993,

t hrough July 27, 1996, and from June 30, 1997, through July 28,
2003. On both occasi ons, Respondent assigned Petitioner to
perform mai nt enance work at the Island House Hotel in Orange
Beach, Al abama

4. Petitioner was a mai ntenance technician at the |sland
House Hotel until Respondent pronmoted himto the position of

Assi stant Supervi sor of Maintenance in 1998. Respondent



pronoted Petitioner to the nanagenent position of Chief Engineer
in 1999.

5. As Chief Engineer, Petitioner supervised five or six
mai nt enance technicians. Petitioner received a salary but often
wor ked nore than a 40- hour week. For instance, Petitioner would
stay at the hotel during hurricanes instead of going hone to be
with his famly.

6. At all times relevant here, Petitioner was aware of
Respondent's witten "Harassnent - Free Wrkpl ace Policy." The
policy defines sexual harassnment as "unwel cone conduct of a
sexual nature where an enpl oyee feels conpelled to conply with
t he harassnent as part of job betternment, or where the
harassnent interferes with an enpl oyee's work creating an
intimdating or hostile work environnment."” The policy lists
exanpl es of sexual harassnent, including unwel cone physica
contact, request for sexual favors, and/or displays of a sexual
nat ure.

7. Respondent's Harassment - Free Wrkpl ace Policy goes on
to discuss other types of discrimnatory conduct. Specifically,
the policy prohibits discrimnation, such as intimdation or
ridicul e based on gender, race, color, national origin, sexua
orientation, pregnancy, age, religion, disability, veteran
status, or any other basis that creates an offensive work

environnent, or which results in an unfavorable job action. The



policy lists verbal or witten jokes or offensive coments based
on race, sex, etc., as exanples of discrimnatory conduct.

8. Respondent's Harassnent - Free Wrkpl ace Policy advi ses
enpl oyees, whether a victimor a witness, to report al
i ncidents of discrimnation or harassnent. Respondent instructs
its enployees to report such conplaints to their manager, their
| ocal office staffing specialist, and/or Respondent's corporate
office, using a toll-free enployee hot I|ine.

9. Petitioner had a good professional and personal
rel ationship with Respondent's enpl oyees who were assigned
managenent positions at the Island House Hotel. Specifically,
Petitioner was friends with the follow ng enpl oyees: (a)
Bar bara Walters, General Manager; (b) d enn Johnson, Director of
Operations; and (c) Margaret Lathan, Director of Housekeepi ng.

10. Petitioner and Ms. Walters occasionally shared off-
col or jokes with each other. Sonetines they |aughed about jokes
wi th sexual connotations that one of them had copied fromthe
Internet. On at |east one occasion, Ms. Walters and Petitioner
di scussed hotel guests who were wearing bathing suits at the
pool. There is no evidence that Petitioner was ever offended by
t he jokes; he never conplained to Respondent about the jokes.

11. M. Walters personally was not offended by the jokes.
In time, however, she becane concerned that Petitioner's jokes

and comrents to enpl oyees other than herself were no | onger



appropriate in the workplace. Eventually, M. Walters began to
verbally counsel Petitioner to clean up his | anguage and to be
careful of his remarks to ot her enpl oyees because they m ght
consi der them of fensi ve.

12. Petitioner and Ms. Latham al so enjoyed sharing jokes
of a sexual nature with each other. On one occasion, M. Latham
gave Petitioner a T-shirt when she returned fromvacation. The
back of the shirt had pictures of ladies’ butts wearing bikinis.
There is no evidence that Petitioner found the shirt offensive;
he never conpl ained to Respondent or anyone el se about the
T-shirt.

13. On or about June 23, 2001, Ms. Walters wote a note to
Petitioner. M. Wilters requested that Ms. MDowel | place the
note in Petitioner's personnel file. The note stated as
fol | ows:

After our conversation on Wdnesday, |

t hought we had cleared up my concerns with
you. Today | discover that your "blond"

| ady that does awnings was in your office
yesterday and that you allowed her to
acconpany you to repair the washer in the
[ aundry.

This is totally unacceptabl e and viol ates
Hotel policy and safety issues. | do not
expect you as a nanager to have outside
vendors in areas that they are not here to
i nspect, study, or to prepare estimtes for.

| will not discuss this any further with
you.



14. Ms. Walters would have witten the above-referenced
note if Petitioner had invited an unauthorized nmale to acconpany
himinto a secure area. However, Ms. Walters was especially
concerned because the incident involved a femnale.

15. On at |east two occasions, Ms. Walters nmade speci al
requests for Respondent to conduct a class to review
Respondent's harassnent policy with her managenent team  She
made these requests because her managenent team consisted of
menbers who were of various ages. M. Walters wanted to nmake
sure that the managenent team was aware that tines had changed,
and that conduct, which had been acceptabl e years ago, was no
| onger acceptable in today's workpl ace.

16. At the request of Ms. Walters, Respondent's staffing
specialist, Martina McDowell, conducted a class on Respondent's
harassnent policy at the Island House Hotel on January 31, 2002.
Petitioner, Ms. Walters, and Ms. Latham attended the cl ass.

17. During the January 2003 cl ass, Petitioner received a
copy of Respondent's Harassnent-Free Wrkplace Policy. He
signed a statenent acknow edgi ng that he had read and under st ood
the policy, including the procedure to report violations.

18. On February 14, 2002, Petitioner signed a copy of
Respondent's "New Enpl oyee Orientation Cuidelines: Policy &

Procedures.” This docunent includes Respondent's discrimnation



and harassnent policies, which Petitioner initialed.
Ms. McDowel | signed the docunment under Petitioner's signature.

19. In the last year of Petitioner's enploynent at the
| sl and House Hotel, Ms. Walters realized Petitioner was under
stress in his personal |life. She also noticed a change in his
behavior at work. Ms. Walters felt that Petitioner's jokes and
ot her attenpts to be hunorous becane nore intense.

20. Ms. Walters was so concerned that she requested
Ms. McDowel |l to counsel Petitioner on nore than one occasion.
During the counseling sessions, Ms. McDowel| advised Petitioner
that off-color jokes were not accepted in the workpl ace.
Ms. McDowell also told Petitioner that flirting with fenale
co-workers was inappropriate and woul d be consi dered as sexual
harassnment under Respondent's policy.

21. Respondent does not provide the |Island House Hot el
wi th enpl oyees to perform housekeepi ng duties. |[|sland House
Hotel contracts with a conpany by the nane of TIDY for
housekeepi ng servi ces.

22. M. Latham as Director of Housekeepi ng, does not
supervi se TIDY's housekeepers directly. Instead, she interacts
with TIDY's supervisors to ensure that the housekeepi ng duties

are perforned.



23. One of TIDY's housekeepers was a young femal e nanmed
April. She began working at |sland House Hotel on or about
July 23, 2003.

24. On Friday, July 25, 2003, Petitioner grabbed and
jiggled his private parts as he wal ked down the hall to the
el evator at the Island House Hotel. April, M. Latham and a
porter named Al an Hoffrman, were standing at the el evator.

Ms. Lat ham observed Petitioner's conduct and considered it
of fensive. M. Lathamcould tell that Petitioner's
i nappropri ate behavi or enbarrassed April.

25. On Saturday, July 26, 2003, Ms. Walters was working at
the I sl and House Hotel when she |earned that a young nman was at
the front desk. The young man wanted to speak to Ms. Walters
privately. Therefore, Ms. Walters invited the young nan to go
with her to the sales office.

26. During the conversation, the young man conpl ained to
Ms. Walters that an ol der gentl eman nanmed Ben, who worked at the
hotel, had nmade i nappropriate gestures to his fianceé, April.
Specifically, the young nan all eged that Ben had grabbed his
private parts and jiggled themin front of April, who was
of fended by such behavi or.

27. M. Walters talked to Ms. Latham after the young man
left the hotel. M. Latham confirnmed that she had w tnessed

Petitioner grabbing his private parts in front of April.



28. Immediately after talking to Ms. Latham M. Walters
cal |l ed Respondent's branch rmanager, Sherry Moore. M. Walters
told Ms. Moore that Respondent needed to rel ease Petitioner from
his assignnment at |sland House Hotel.

29. Ms. Moore contacted Ms. McDowel | by tel ephone.

Ms. Moore instructed Ms. McDowel|l to contact Petitioner and
instruct himto report to Respondent's office in Gulfport,
Florida, on July 28, 2003.

30. On Sunday, July 27, 2003, Ms. McDowell contacted
Petitioner. M. MDowell told Petitioner to report to her
office the next day instead of returning to work at |sland House
Hot el .

31. On Monday, July 28, 2003, Petitioner nmet Ms McDowel |
at her office. M. MDowell explained that Respondent had
recei ved a sexual harassnent conplaint involving his behavior.
Petitioner's initial reaction was to state that he had talked to
the little girl and that she was okay with his apol ogy.

32. The little girl that Petitioner referred to was not
April. Petitioner's initial statenent in Ms. McDowell's office
related to an incident involving a fenmal e enpl oyee of the
hotel's beach servi ce.

33. M. MDowell infornmed Petitioner that the conplaint
i nvol ved a housekeeper. After explaining the allegations

against him M. MDowell relieved Petitioner of his work
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assignnment at |Island House Hotel. Petitioner becane angry,
stating as follows: "Well, if Ms. Walters was going down the
hal | way and her ass was itching and she scratched it, would you
fire her too?" M. MDowell responded that she was dealing only
with a conplaint brought against him where another enpl oyee had
wi t nessed his conduct. Ms. MDowel | did not tell Petitioner
that he was term nated as one of Respondent's tenporary
enpl oyees.

34. Respondent's policy requires enpl oyees to nake
t hensel ves avail abl e for work assignnents. Enpl oyees are
supposed to contact Respondent within 48 hours of the tine that
a work assignnent ends if they are avail able for another job.
Thereafter, enployees are required to contact Respondent on a
weekly basis. Petitioner did not follow Respondent's policy in
this regard.

35. In any event, Ms. MDowell conducted a follow-up
i nvestigation. The investigation included interviews with
Ms. Walters, Ms. Latham and M. Hoffman. Ms. MDowel | was
unable to talk to April who never returned to work. After
conpl eting her investigation, Ms. MDowell considered
Petitioner's enploynent term nated.

36. On or about Novenber 21, 2003, Ms. MDowel| requested
that Ms. Latham make a witten statenent regardi ng the July 25,

2003, incident. M. Latham nmade the follow ng statenent:
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April (housekeeper), Alan (porter) and
nmysel f were standing by the el evat or when
Ben Torres cane down the hall and grabbed
his privates. Ben mght not have realized
April was standing there, he nade these
gestures all the time and | told hi mmany
times, that one of these days he will do it
in front of the wong person and get in
trouble. Mst of the housekeepers knew how
he was and just ignored his behavior.

37. Respondent did not hire another Chief Engineer to
repl ace Petitioner. Instead, Respondent assigned the duties of
Chi ef Engi neer to d enn Johnson, the Director of Operations at
t he Island House Hotel. M. Johnson is a white nale.

CONCLUSI ONS OF LAW

38. The Division of Adm nistrative Hearings has
jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of this
proceedi ng. See 88§ 120.569, 120.57(1), and 760.11, Fla. Stat.

39. It is an unlawful enploynent practice for an enpl oyer
to discrimnate against any individual with respect to
conpensation, terns, conditions, or privileges of enploynent,
because of such individual's gender. See 8§ 760.10(1)(a), Fla.
St at .

40. The provisions of Chapter 760, Florida Statutes, are
anal ogous to those of the Federal Enploynment Discrimnation Act,
42 U.S.C. Section 2000(e), et seq., and the cases interpreting
t he Federal Enployment Discrimnation Act are therefore

applicable to Chapter 760, Florida Statutes. See Razner v.
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Vel | i ngton Regional Medical Cr., Inc., 837 So. 2d 437, 440

(Fla. 4th DCA 2002).

41. In order to establish a prinma facie case of gender

di scrim nation, an enpl oyee nust denonstrate the followng: (a)
he is a nmenber of a protected class; (b) he is qualified to do
his job; (c) his enployer discharged himbut did not discharge
simlarly situated enpl oyees outside of the protected class.

See McDonnel |l Douglas Corp. v. Geen, 411 U S. 792, 802, 93 S.

Ct. 1817, 36 L. Ed. 2d 668 (1973); Holifield v. Reno, 115 F. 3d

1555, 1562 (11th Cr 1997).
42. |f an enployee is successful in establishing a prim
faci e case, the enployer nust articulate a legitimate,

nondi scrim natory reason for its actions. Rojas v. Florida, 285

F.3d 1339, 1342 n.2 (11th G r. 2002); Conbs v. Plantation

Patterns, 106 F.3d 1519, 1526 (11th Cr. 1997).
43. If the enployer satisfies its burden, the enployee
must prove that the enployer's reason for its action is a

pretext for illegal discrimnation. Texas Dept. of Comunity

Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U S. 248, 255-256, 101 S. C. 1089,

1094- 1095, 67 L. Ed. 2d 207 (1981).

44, As a male, Petitioner was a nenber of a protected
class. His history of working in maintenance at the I|sland
House Hotel for nmany years indicates that he was qualified to

performhis duties as Chief Engineer. Respondent fired
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Petitioner, but did not fire femal e nmanagers (Ms. Walters and
Ms. Lathan), who shared jokes of a sexual with Petitioner.
45. Despite these facts, Petitioner has not net his burden

of proving a prim facie case for two reasons. First, there is

no evidence that Ms. Walters' and Ms. Latham s conduct ever
of fended Petitioner or any other co-worker at the hotel.
Second, neither Petitioner nor any other individual ever
conpl ai ned to Respondent about the behavior of the female
managers. Therefore, it cannot be said that Respondent treated
the fenmal e managers in a nore favorabl e way.

46. Assum ng, but not concluding, that Petitioner proved

his prina facie case, Respondent presented a |legitinate and

nondi scrim natory reason for relieving Petitioner of his work
assignment. Respondent's behavior in the presence of other
enpl oyees clearly violated Respondent's Harassnent - Free

Wor kpl ace Pol i cy.

47. Petitioner failed to present any evidence that the
reason for his termnation was a pretext for discrinination.
There could be no gender discrimnation where Respondent was
never aware that any femal e enpl oyee's conduct was of the type
t hat could be considered contrary to the harassnent policy.

RECOMVENDATI ON

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Concl usi ons of

Law, it is
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RECOMVENDED

That FCHR enter a final order dismssing the Petition for
Rel i ef .

DONE AND ENTERED this 6th day of June, 2005, in

Tal | ahassee, Leon County, Flori da.

(‘
——__

SUZANNE F. HOOD

Adm ni strative Law Judge

D vision of Adm nistrative Hearings
The DeSoto Buil ding

1230 Apal achee Par kway

Tal | ahassee, Florida 32399-3060
(850) 488-9675 SUNCOM 278- 9675
Fax Filing (850) 921-6847

www. doah. state. fl.us

Filed with the Cerk of the

Division of Adm nistrative Hearings
this 6th day of June, 2005.

COPI ES FURNI SHED.

Deni se Crawford, Agency Cerk

Fl ori da Comm ssion on Hunman Rel ati ons
2009 Apal achee Par kway, Suite 100

Tal | ahassee, Florida 32301

Debra Dawn Cooper, Esquire
Debra D. Cooper, Attorney
309 West Gregory Street
Pensacol a, Florida 32502

Jane M Rolling, Esquire
5301 North | ronwood Road
Post O fice Box 2053

M | waukee, W sconsin 53217
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Cecil Howard, General Counsel

Fl ori da Comm ssi on on Hunan Rel ati ons
2009 Apal achee Parkway, Suite 100

Tal | ahassee, Florida 32301

NOTI CE OF RIGHT TO SUBM T EXCEPTI ONS

All parties have the right to submt witten exceptions wthin
15 days fromthe date of this Recommended Order. Any exceptions
to this Recormended Order should be filed with the agency that
will issue the final order in this case.
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